**No. 45478-5.**  
**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**  
**FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**  
**DIVISION II**

**RECEIVED**  
MAY 19 2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS DIV II  
STATE OF WASHINGTON

**Ederi Haggemiller, Pro Se Appellant,**

**v.**

**DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,**

**STATE OF WASHINGTON Respondent.**

**ON APPEAL FROM THE**  
**SUPERIOR COURT OF JEFFERSON COUNTY**

**Before**

**The Honorable Keith Harper, Judge**

**OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

**Ederi Haggemiller Pro Se**

**2035 Egg and I Rd. Chimacum, WA 98325,**

**(360) 732-0346, annieandederi@yahoo.com**

**

## II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

- A. The trial court erred as a matter of law in its order of January 10, 2014 (*CP 864-5*) by denying, striking and awarding cost in opposition to Haggenmiller's RCW 4.24.525(4)(a) "Special Motion to Strike Ms. Kilduff's, claims" filed, December 23, 2013, (*CP 738-761*) in the exact opposite of that which is specified in RCW 4.24.525 (5)(c). The statute requires that: ...any pending hearings or motions in the action shall be stayed upon the filing of a special motion to strike under subsection (4) of this section.
  
- B. The trial court erred as a matter of law in its order of January 10, 2014 (*CP 864-5*) by denying, striking and awarding cost in opposition to Haggenmiller's RCW 4.24.525(4)(a) "Special Motion to Strike Mr. Mills', claims" filed, December 24, 2013, (*CP 763-779*) in the exact opposite of that which is specified in RCW 4.24.525 (5)(c). The statute requires that: ...any pending hearings or motions in the action shall be stayed upon the filing of a special motion to strike under subsection (4) of this section.
  
- C. The trial court erred as a matter of law in its order of January 10, 2014 (*CP 864-5*) by denying, striking and awarding cost in opposition to Haggenmiller's RCW 4.24.525(4)(a) "Second Special Motion to Strike Mr. Mills', claims" filed, January 8, 2014, (*CP 813-832*) in the exact opposite of that which is specified in RCW 4.24.525 (5)(c). The statute requires that: ...any pending hearings or motions in the action shall be stayed upon the filing of a special motion to strike under subsection (4) of this section.
  
- D. The trial court erred as a matter of law in its order of January 10, 2014 (*CP 864-5*) by denying, striking and awarding cost in opposition to Haggenmiller's RCW 4.24.525(4)(a) "Second Special Motion to Strike Ms. Kilduff's, claims" filed, January 8, 2014, (*CP 833-862*) in the exact opposite of that which is specified in RCW

**4.24.525 (5)(c). The statute requires that: ...any pending hearings or motions in the action shall be stayed upon the filing of a special motion to strike under subsection (4) of this section.**

- E. The trial court erred as a matter of law in denying to hear and decide the merits of Haggenmiller's "Motion and Declaration for Entry of Default and For Entry of Default Judgment or In the Alternative Entry of Partial Default Judgment" (CP 675-719) and "Motion and Declaration of Sanctions" (CP 721-3) Filed December 3, 2013 as in under Washington State Constitution Article IV Section 20 Decisions, When to Be Made. Every cause submitted to a judge of a superior court for his decision shall be decided by him within ninety days from the submission thereof: Provided, That if within said period of ninety days a rehearing shall have been ordered, then the period within which he is to decide shall commence at the time the cause is submitted upon such a hearing. RCW 2.08.240; the Superior Court may not delay indefinitely its decision regarding this matter. (CP 729) RP December 13, 2013 at 5**
- F. The trial court erred as a matter of law in its order of October 28, 2013 (CP 565-6) by denying to hear the merits of Haggenmiller's "Motion for Order to Show Cause" (CP 520-563) filed October 28, 2013 where "it can be demonstrated, clearly and convincingly, that a party has sentiently set in motion some unconscionable scheme calculated to interfere with the judicial system's ability impartially to adjudicate a matter by improperly influencing the trier of fact or unfairly hampering the presentation of the opposing party's claim or defense." Aoude v. Mobil Oil Corp., 892 F.2d 1115, 1118 (1st Cir. 1989) This violated Haggenmiller's constitutional right to due process because it was issued on an ex parte basis, without notice and hearing, Ex-Parte Action with Order JDG0001**
- G. The trial court erred as a matter of law in its order of November 4, 2013 (CP 570) by denying to hear the merits of Haggenmiller's "Motion for Reconsideration"**

**(CP 567-8) filed October 31, 2013 as it violated Haggenmiller's constitutional right to due process because it was issued on an ex parte basis, without a hearing or a reason. Ex-Parte Action with Order JDG0001**

- H. The trial court erred as a matter of law in its September 30, 2013 "Order Granting Departments Motion" (CP 477-91) and "Memorandum Opinion and Order" (CP 492-4) because the granted Judgment as a Matter of Law is in disagreement with the record and involves an issue in which there is a conflict or an inconsistency with a decision of the Supreme Court. [Harry v. Buse Timber & Sales, Inc. No. 79613-1. 201 P.3d 1011 (2009)] Furthermore the trial court cannot enlarge the lawful scope of the proceedings, which is limited strictly to the issues raised by the notice of appeal namely Hearing loss and Tinnitus. Mental health was never identified as an issue and neither was the date of manifestation. Such findings are without legal effect as they exceeded their jurisdiction and it violated Haggenmiller's constitutional right to due process as they were issued on an ex parte basis. RP September 27, 2013. Ex-Parte Action with Order JDG0001 EX 1**
- I. The trial court erred as a matter of law in its order of September 30, 2013, (CP 477-494) affirming the determination that essentially created a common law exception to RCW 51.52.100 and RCW 4.12.030. Hearings shall be held in the county of the residence of the worker or beneficiary, or in the county where the injury occurred (CABR at 4, line 33 et seq.) (CABR at 48, 75, 76) and (CABR October 1, 2012 Pg. 75, 76)**

---

**The (CABR) is the Certified Appeals Board Record, is numbered from page 1 through 132 and so designated. The CABR two hearing transcripts will be designated by date, either (CABR October 1, 2012) or (CABR October 8, 2012)**

- J. The trial court erred as a matter of law in its order of September 30, 2013, (CP 477-494) affirming the determination that Haggemiller's conditions were fixed and stable as of December 8, 2011. "Finding of Fact No. 3" (CABR at 39) (CABR at 25) such findings are without legal effect as they exceeded their jurisdiction essentially creating a common law exception to RCW 51.52.070**
- K. The trial court erred as a matter of law in its order of September 30, 2013, (CP 477-494) affirming the determination that Haggemiller suffered from a bilateral hearing loss of 20.83 percent, and an increase of bilateral hearing loss caused by tinnitus of 4 percent, resulting in a total bilateral hearing loss of 24.83 percent. "Finding of Fact No. 4" (CABR at 39) (CABR at 14 line 29 et seq.) (CABR at 15 line 1 et seq.) (CABR October 1, 2012 at 66 line 23 et seq.) (CABR October 1, 2012 at 54 line 13-15)**
- L. The trial court erred as a matter of law in its order of September 30, 2013, (CP 477-494) affirming the determination that Haggemiller had a permanent partial disability proximately caused by the combined bilateral hearing loss and tinnitus equal to 24.83 percent. "Finding of Fact No. 5" (CABR at 39) (CABR at 21 line 38 et seq.) EX 2**
- M. The trial court erred as a matter of law in its order of September 30, 2013, (CP 477-494) affirming the determination that Haggemiller failed to present the necessary evidence to prove the Department's determination of an October 9, 2009 date of manifestation was incorrect. No medical opinion was introduced during the hearing that proved that Haggemiller's bilateral hearing loss and tinnitus was made manifest on another date. "Finding of Fact No. 6" (CABR at 39). Such findings are without legal effect as they exceeded their jurisdiction essentially creating a common law exception to RCW 51.52.070. EX 3**

- N. The trial court erred as a matter of law in its order of September 30, 2013, (CP 477-494) affirming the determination that Haggenmiller failed to present the necessary evidence to prove his bilateral hearing loss and tinnitus caused a mental health condition. No medical opinion was introduced during the hearing to prove Haggenmiller was suffering from a mental health condition. No medical opinion was introduced that stated a diagnosis, a cause of any mental health condition, or a permanent partial disability rating for any mental health condition. "Finding of Fact No. 7" (CABR at 39). Such findings are without legal effect as they exceeded their jurisdiction essentially creating a common law exception to RCW 51.52.070.**
- O. The trial court erred as a matter of law in its order of September 30, 2013, (CP 477-494) affirming the determination that excluded an entire line of proof due to a misconception of the governing law; was not a mistake about the applicable substantive law. WAC 296-20-220(1)(o) In cases of injury or occupational disease of bodily areas and/or systems which are not included in these categories or rules and which do not involve loss of hearing, loss of central visual acuity, loss of an eye by enucleation or loss of the extremities or use thereof, examiners shall determine the impairment of such bodily areas and/or systems in terms of percentage of total bodily impairment. (CABR October 1, 2012 at 55-58) (CABR at 19 line 29 et seq.) EX 4**
- P. The trial court erred as a matter of law in its order of September 30, 2013, (CP 477-494) affirming the determination that admitted evidence, in which the medical expert testimony concludes, without the requisite supporting specific facts showing the basis for those opinions. (CABR October 8, 2012 at 15, 19, 59, 60, 83, 84) Contrary to *Hash v. Children's Orthopedic Hospital*, 49 Wn. App. 130, 133-135 (1987), affirmed, 110 Wn.2d 912, 915-916 (1988). (CABR 12-14)**

### **III-ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR**

**1.- Is it not a reversible trial court error that found as a matter of law; (CP 864-5) that Haggemiller's December 23, 2013, "Special Motion to Strike Kilduff claims" (CP 738-761) has not carried his initial burden under RCW 4.24.525(4)(b) by a preponderance of the evidence that the November 5, 2013, "Department's Motion to Strike" (CP 572-600) is based on actions involving public participation and petition?**

**YES. The fact is that Haggemiller's October 28, 2013, "Motion for Order to Show Cause" (CP 520-563) and his October 31, 2013, "Motion for Reconsideration" (CP 567-8) are overwhelming examples of public participation and petition made in furtherance of his rights of free speech on an issue of public interest. Furthermore the Department failed to establish by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim to strike them. RCW 4.24.525(4)(b) (Assignment A)**

**2.- Is it not a reversible trial court error that found as a matter of law, (CP 864-5) that Haggemiller's December 24, 2013, "Special Motion to Strike Mills' claims" (CP 763-779) has not carried his initial burden under RCW 4.24.525(4)(b) by a preponderance of the evidence that the December 12, 2013, "Mills' papers filings requesting relief" (CP 727-8) are based on actions involving public participation and petition?**

**YES. The fact is that Haggemiller's December 3, 2013, "Motion for Entry of Default and for Entry of Default Judgment or in the Alternative Entry of Partial Default Judgment" (CP 675-719) and "Motion and Declaration for Sanctions" (CP 721-3) are overwhelming examples of public participation and petition made in furtherance of his rights of free speech on an issue of public interest. Furthermore the Department failed to establish by clear**

**and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim. RCW 4.24.525(4)(b) (Assignment B)**

**3.- Is it not a reversible trial court error that found as a matter of law, (CP 864-5) that Haggemiller's January 8, 2014, "Second Special Motion to Strike Mills' Claims" (CP 813-832) has not carried his initial burden under RCW 4.24.525(4)(b) by a preponderance of the evidence that the January 3, 2014, "Department's Response to Plaintiff's Special Motions, Department's Second Motion to Strike and Request for Cost" (CP 782-806) are based on actions involving public participation and petition?**

**YES. The fact is that Haggemiller's December 24, 2013, "Special Motion to Strike Mills' claims" (CP 763-779) are overwhelming examples of public participation and petition made in furtherance of his rights of free speech on an issue of public interest. Furthermore the Department failed to establish by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim to Strike and Request for Cost.. RCW 4.24.525(4)(b) (Assignment C)**

**4.- Is it not a reversible trial court error that found as a matter of law, (CP 864-5) that Haggemiller's January 8, 2014, "Second Special Motion to Strike Kilduff's claims" (CP 833-862) has not carried his initial burden under RCW 4.24.525(4)(b) by a preponderance of the evidence that the January 3, 2014, "Department's Response to Plaintiff's Special Motions, Department's Second Motion to Strike and Request for Cost" (CP 782-806) are based on actions involving public participation and petition?**

**YES. The fact is that Haggemiller's December 23, 2013; "Special Motion to Strike Kilduff claims" (CP 738-761) are overwhelming examples of public participation and petition made in furtherance of his rights of free speech on**



**an issue of public interest. Furthermore the Department failed to establish by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim to Strike and Request for Cost. RCW 4.24.525(4)(b) (Assignment D)**

**5.- Doesn't the SLAPP statute RCW 4.24.525(6)(b) require the trial court to explain specifically why the special motion to strike is frivolous or is solely intended to cause unnecessary delay, before it can award Cost of litigation? (CP 864-5)**

**YES. The Washington Act Limiting Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation" [2010 c 118 § 4.] would otherwise be meaningless if it can be defeated by simply filing a "Motion to Strike and Request for Cost." (CP 782-806) (Assignment A-D.)**

**6.- Is it not a reversible trial court error that Haggemiller's "Motion and Declaration for Entry of Default and For Entry of Default Judgment or In the Alternative Entry of Partial Default Judgment" (CP 675-719) and "Motion and Declaration of Sanctions" (CP 721-3) both filed December 3, 2013 are still waiting for an Order? (CP 729) RP December 13, 2013 at 5**

**YES. Every case submitted to a judge of a superior court for his or her decision shall be decided by him or her within ninety days from that submission. (RP December 13, 2013 at 5) RCW 2.08.240. Decisions, when to be made: State Constitution Art. 4 § 20. RAP 2.4 (b)(1) The appellate court will review a trial court order or ruling not designated in the notice, including an appealable order, if (1) the order or ruling prejudicially affects the decision designated in the notice (Assignment A-P)**

**7.- Is it not a reversible trial court error to exclude an entire line of proof due to a misconception of the governing law? (CABR at 19 line29 et Seq.) (CABR October 1, 2012 at 55-58 and 70-74)**

**YES. The applicable substantive law in RCW 51.32.080, WAC 296-20-220(1)(o), and the Board's published Significant Decision In re Robert Lenk, Sr., BIIA Dec., 91 6525 (1993) calls for Haggemiller's permanent impairment due to his tinnitus proximately caused by his employment, to be categorized and expressed as a percentage of total bodily impairment. (CABR at 22 line 28 et seq.) (Assignment A-P)**

**9.- Is it not fraud on the court to influence the Trier of fact to decide the outcome of the trial by enlarging the lawful scope of the proceedings, which are limited strictly to the issues raised by the notice of appeal namely Hearing loss and Tinnitus to procure a Mental health and date of manifestation legal findings that were never identified as issues. "Finding of Fact No. 6" "Finding of Fact No. 7" (CABR at 39). Such findings are without legal effect as they exceeded their jurisdiction essentially creating a common law exception to RCW 51.52.070. (Assignment H)**

**YES. The issues in front of the court are the amount of Permanent Partial Disability hearing loss and tinnitus. Permanent Partial Disability tinnitus as category under WAC 296-20-220(1)(o).**

**Is it not fraud on the court to influence the Trier of fact to decide and rely upon medical expert testimony that concludes, without the requisite supporting specific facts showing the basis for those opinions. (CABR October 8, 2012 at 15, 19, 59, 60, 83, 84) Contrary to Hash v. Children's Orthopedic Hospital, 49 Wn. App. 130, 133-135 (1987), affirmed, 110 Wn.2d 912, 915-916 (1988). (CABR 12-14)**

**Is it not fraud on the court to influence the Trier of fact to make a rating based on expert testimony of what percentage of**

**hearing loss is and any additional amount for tinnitus. That's the subject of this appeal. Sleep disorder is beyond the order. (CABR October 1, 2012 at 57, 58)**

**YES "... when a material factor deserving significant weight is ignored, when an improper factor is relied upon, or when all proper and no improper factors are assessed, but the court makes a serious mistake in weighing them." Independent Oil and Chemical Workers of Quincy, Inc. v. Procter & Gamble Mfg. Co., 864 F.2d 927, 929 (1st Cir. 1988); see also Anderson v. Cryovac, Inc., 862 F.2d 910, 923 (1st Cir. 1988) (to warrant reversal for abuse of discretion, it must "plainly appear[ ]that the court below committed a meaningful error in judgment")?(Assignment A-P)**

#### **IV STATEMENT OF CASE**

##### **A. Facts in the court record relevant to the issues on appeal.**

**This appeal is filed by the injured worker, Ederi Haggemiller who on February 3, 2012 (CABR at 42) from an order of the Department of Labor and Industries dated December 8, 2011; (CABR at 45) in which the Department affirmed an order dated October 6, 2011 (CABR at 44) which accepted the claim filed by Haggemiller concerning occupational hearing loss; determined that the covered medical condition was stable; ordered that the State of Washington pay a permanent partial disability award equal to 10.32% percent for the loss of hearing in both ears with no**

**additional rating for tinnitus according to the 2009 schedule of benefits and held that the State of Washington would remain responsible for the purchase and maintenance of hearing aids, and closed the claim. This order allowing his claim was based on the results of an audiogram dated January 26, 2011 performed by Gerald G. Randolph (CABR October 8, 2012 at 14 line 7-9).**

**Related to Venue:**

**The Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals on their February 23, 2012 Order Granted Haggemiller's appeal, (CABR at 47)**

**A March 23, 2012 Conference and Assignment of Judges was schedule to be held at Jefferson County Courthouse, Port Townsend, Washington. Notice dated March 7, 2012 (CABR at 48)**

**A May 23, 2012 Interlocutory Order Establishing Litigation Schedule, changed the location from Port Townsend, Jefferson County to Olympia, Thurston County and assigned two dates for the hearings, September 17, 2012 for Haggemiller, one lay witness and one medical witness and**

**October 1, 2012 for the Department's two lay witnesses and one medical witness. (CABR at 63-65)**

**A July 11, 2012. Pro Se Motion for Continuance of Hearing. (CABR at 69)**

**A July 13, 2012 Amended Interlocutory Order Establishing Litigation Schedule, to change October 1, 2012 for the Department's two lay witnesses and one medical witness to October 8, 2012 leaving October 1, 2012 (Reserved Alternative Date) (CABR at 70-72)**

**A July 25, 2012 Haggemiller's designation of witnesses correspondence. (CABR at 74)**

**An August 6, 2012 Haggemiller's correspondence that complains of the change of location from Port Townsend, Jefferson County to Olympia, Thurston is not the proper county.**

**Dear Judge Straume and Ms. Kilduff,**

**Please correct line 27, page 1, of the Amended Interlocutory Order Establishing Litigation Schedule from "Whether the claimant was a totally and permanently disabled worker" to "a permanent partially disabled worker" as we discussed on June 1, 2012.**

**I request all hearings be conducted in Poulsbo, WA. or Port Townsend, WA. as originally discussed. This is closer to my home and also the location of my injury. I will object to any**

**other venue for the hearings. I have no objections to any telephone testimony.**

**Please amend the order to reflect the new date of October 1 instead of September 17 for presentation of evidence.  
(CABR at 75-76)**

**A September 7, 2012 Second Amended Interlocutory Order Establishing Litigation Schedule, to change September 17, 2012 for Haggemiller, one lay witness and one medical witness to October 1, 2012 and changed it from Olympia to Poulsbo. (CABR at 77-79)**

**JUDGE STRAUME: Next, we will be convening again on October 8. My recollection is your expert can be with us on that day.**

**MS. KILDUFF: Yes, Dr. Randolph, correct.**

**MR. HAGGENMILLER: Why it has to be in Olympia?**

**JUDGE STRAUME: We have --**

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