NO. 45478-5-II

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

EDERI HAGGENMILLER,

Appellant,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES
OF THE STATE WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON
Attorney General

JAMES P. MILLS
Assistant Attorney General
WSBA No. 36978
Office No. 91040
1250 Pacific Avenue, Suite 105
P.O. Box 2317
Tacoma, WA 98401
(253) 593-5243

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

No mental health expert testified in this case and no testifying physician offered any opinion on a contended mental health condition. Drs. Kessler and Randolph are otolaryngologists. CP 205, 246. Dr. Randolph testified that given his specialty he does not address mental

health conditions. CP 318. Similarly, Dr. Kessler offered no mental health opinion. CP 214-25. Haggenmiller's lay testimony that he has a mental health condition is not sufficient to establish causation for a medical question. *See Jackson*, 54 Wn.2d at 649 (holding that it is proper to limit the instructions to a jury to the necessity for medical testimony where the issue falls within the realm of medical knowledge and therefore not appropriate to provide instruction allowing lay testimony alone to establish causation).⁹ Haggenmiller had the opportunity to put on such evidence in his case-in-chief by calling an expert witness with expertise in mental health conditions, and failed to do so. Viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, no evidence demonstrates Haggenmiller has a mental health condition proximately caused by his occupational noise exposure. The Department is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on this question because Haggenmiller did not make a prima facie case.

⁹ *But see Swope v. Sundgren*, 73 Wn.2d 747, 750, 440 P.2d 494 (1968) (upholding the refusal of an instruction which would have limited the proof on proximate cause to medical testimony, pointing out that the jury should not be excluded from a consideration of the *corroborative* lay testimony and circumstances of the case). Here, there is no medical opinion on causation for lay witness testimony to corroborate. CP 214-25, 318.

3. The Date of Manifestation Is October 9, 2009 As A Matter Of Law Because The Final And Binding Allowance Order Conclusively Established The Date Of Manifestation

Haggenmiller is not entitled to a later date of manifestation because he did not present medical evidence to support his argument that it should be based on Dr. Kessler's 2012 audiogram and he failed to protest or appeal the Department order establishing the date of manifestation.

The schedule of benefits for a permanent partial disability award under an occupational disease claim is determined by the date of manifestation. RCW 51.32.180(b). RCW 51.32.180(b) provides:

For claims filed on or after July 1, 1988, the rate of compensation for occupational disease shall be established as of the date the disease *requires medical treatment* or becomes totally or *partially disabling*, whichever occurs first, and without regard to the date of the contraction of the disease or the date of filing the claim.

(emphasis added).

The rate of compensation is established by the date the worker consulted with a doctor or received hearing aids, or the date the first valid audiogram reflects a disability, but no later than the last day of exposure because occupational hearing loss occurs simultaneously with exposure to injurious noise and the disability does not progress after the exposure ends. *See Harry v. Buse Timber & Sales, Inc.*, 166 Wn.2d 1, 9, 201 P.3d

1011 (2009); *see also* *Pollard v. Weyerhaeuser*, 123 Wn. App. 506, 512, 98 P.3d 545 (2004). Here, no medical evidence supports Haggenmiller’s assertion that he had additional occupational exposure after October 2009.¹⁰ Indeed, the medical experts either did not comment on additional occupational exposure or believed that Haggenmiller “has been essentially unemployed since October 2009.” CP 271. Haggenmiller incorrectly argues that the date of manifestation should be established based on Dr. Kessler’s June 5, 2012 audiogram, despite no medical opinion supporting his request to rely on that audiogram as the basis for the date of manifestation. App. Br. 1. In any case, neither the trial court nor Board could revisit the October 9, 2009 date of manifestation because the Department had an order establishing the date of manifestation that became final and binding. Once the Department has entered a decision, the recipients of that decision have 60 days to file a protest and request for reconsideration with the Department or an appeal with the Board. RCW 51.52.050(1), .060. The Industrial Insurance Act provides finality to decisions of the Department and an unappealed Department order is res judicata as to the issues encompassed within the terms of the order. *Kingery v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus.*, 132 Wn.2d 162, 169, 937 P.2d 565

¹⁰ Haggenmiller’s spouse testified Haggenmiller worked after 2009 in the construction industry, but there was no description of what work he performed and no medical opinion to establish that the work he performed constituted further occupational noise exposure. CP 171-72.

(1997) (Talmadge, J., concurring); *Marley v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 125 Wn.2d 533, 537, 886 P.2d 189 (1994); *Kustura v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 142 Wn. App. 655, 669, 175 P.3d 1117 (2008). This is true even if the Department order was erroneous. *Marley*, 125 Wn.2d at 537. Res judicata “precludes the parties from rearguing the same claim.” *Id.* at 538.

Haggenmiller did not protest or appeal the allowance order. Thus, res judicata applies to the unappealed October 5, 2011 order and prevents Haggenmiller from arguing that his date of manifestation is at a later date. *See Le Bire v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 14 Wn.2d 407, 411-12, 419-20, 128 P.2d 308 (1942).

After stipulating to the jurisdictional and historical facts, which establish the “facts for the purposes of establishing the Board’s jurisdiction to hear the case and determine the issue to be resolved[.]” Haggenmiller failed to present any evidence to establish that he timely protested or appealed the October 5, 2011 order. CP 68.

The Department accepted his hearing loss claim as an occupational disease and provided treatment, including hearing aids. CP 68, 184. The July 27, 2011 allowance order also established the date of manifestation as October 9, 2009. CP 68. Haggenmiller protested the order on September 23, 2011; it was affirmed by an order dated October 5, 2011. CP 68. The order affirming the allowance and date of manifestation was

neither protested nor appealed. CP 68-69. The Department closed the claim by an order dated December 8, 2011, affirming an October 6, 2011 order.

CP 55. Haggemiller filed an appeal to the Board asking it to review “the notice decision dated December 8, 2011” seeking “an individualized permanent disability rating of 18 percent in the right ear, 25.5 percent in the left ear, with binaural hearing loss ratable at 19.25 percent.” CP 53-54.

On its face, Haggemiller’s appeal in this case was limited to the December 8, 2011 order. CP 53. The separate October 5, 2011 order affirmed the July 27, 2011 order, which allowed Haggemiller’s claim for bilateral hearing loss due to occupational noise exposure and established the date of manifestation of October 9, 2009. CP 68-69. Just as the Department is bound to the allowance of Haggemiller’s occupational disease claim, he cannot now challenge the date of manifestation.

4. Haggemiller Is Not Entitled To Any Costs In His Appeal Because He Did Not Prevail And He Fails To Establish Any Conduct In Violation Of CR 11

Haggemiller is not entitled to attorney fees or costs. Haggemiller apparently suggests that he should be entitled to attorney fees and costs regardless of whether he prevails here. *See* App. 44-46. However, RCW 51.52.130(1) only allows fees and costs in cases where

the worker has appealed, if “the decision and order of the board is reversed or modified and if the accident fund or medical aid fund is affected by the litigation[.]”¹¹ Because Haggemiller should not prevail here and because this Court should uphold the superior court’s decision, he should not receive attorney fees or costs for his work here or at the superior court.

Additionally, the Department’s counsel did not violate CR 11 regarding its request that venue be established where the witness is located. *Contra* App. Br. 11. Haggemiller’s suggestion that Department’s counsel acted inappropriately by requesting hearing time in Olympia is without merit. On its face, CR 11 applies to written and signed motions, pleadings, and memoranda.¹² It says an attorney signing such a document thereby attests that it is well grounded in fact and law and is not being used to harass or delay. *See Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc.*, 119 Wn.2d

¹¹ While a pro se attorney may receive attorney’s fees because he must take time out of his regular practice, Haggemiller cites no authority for a pro se litigant to receive attorney’s fees. *Leen v. Demopolis*, 62 Wn. App. 473, 487, 815 P.2d 269 (1991).

¹² CR 11(a) provides in part:

Every pleading, motion, and legal memorandum of a party represented by an attorney shall be dated and signed by at least one attorney of record in the attorney’s individual name, whose address and Washington State Bar Association membership number shall be stated. The signature of a party or of an attorney constitutes a certificate by the party or attorney that the party or attorney has read the pleading, motion, or legal memorandum, and that to the best of the party’s or attorney’s knowledge, information and belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable under the circumstances: (1) it is well grounded in fact; (2) it is warranted by existing law or a good faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law or the establishment of new law 3) it is not interposed for any improper purpose, such as to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation; and (4) the denials of factual contentions are warranted on the evidence or, if specifically so identified, are reasonably based on a lack of information or belief.

210, 217, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992). The rule says nothing about oral representations. In deciding whether there was an abuse of discretion, the court must “keep in mind [t]hat the purpose behind CR 11 is to deter baseless filings and to curb abuses of the judicial system.” *Bryant*, 119 Wn.2d at 219. Here, the Department did not file a pleading for an improper purpose. *See* CR 11.

In any case, the Department made a proper oral request to have the hearing in Olympia. The venue requirements of RCW 4.12.030 relied upon by Haggenmiller do not apply here because Title 51 RCW has its own standards for venue. While it is true hearings as a general rule should be held in the county of the worker’s residence, or of the injury, proceedings can be held elsewhere “if required in justice to interested parties.” RCW 51.52.102; *see also* RCW 51.52.100; *see also* WAC 263-12-115(7). Here, the hearing for Haggenmiller’s witnesses was held in Kitsap County at Haggenmiller’s suggestion, and an additional hearing location was held in Olympia to accommodate the Department’s medical witness, whose main office is in Olympia. CP 253; *see In re Maria Chavez*, No. 870640, 1988 WL 169412, *2 (Bd. Ind. Ins. Appeals November 1, 1988) (recognizing that the scheduling of the medical witness’s hearing time in a location convenient for that witness is permissible under RCW 51.52.102 and WAC 263-12-115(7). Represented

parties regularly agree to take testimony by perpetuation depositions to reduce litigation costs, but perpetuation depositions are not available when a party is pro se. *See* WAC 296-23-387. Here, the Department would have been required to pay travel costs from Olympia to Kitsap or Jefferson County for Dr. Randolph's travel time at the normal testimony rate. The industrial appeals judge ruled that when balancing those costs against the advantages of holding the hearing time for the Department's case in Haggemiller's chosen location in Kitsap County that the cost savings prevailed. CP 43.

Haggemiller argues that he should not have had to pay for costs to travel to the second hearing date, including mileage and toll bridges. App. Br. 2. As the industrial appeals judge recognized, Haggemiller could have appeared by telephone rather than traveling to make a live appearance. CP 43-44.

Moreover, Haggemiller fails to explain how holding a hearing in Olympia before the same fact-finder who previously held proceedings in his chosen location unfairly disadvantages him. Without factual support or explanation, Haggemiller argues that he was prejudiced "by not having his own medical witness present". App. Br. 2. Haggemiller did not request to have his own medical witness present for Dr. Randolph's testimony below. Indeed, Haggemiller chose not to have Dr. Kessler

appear live for the presentation of Dr. Kessler's own testimony. Furthermore, the trial court adopted the Board's unchallenged finding based on Dr. Kessler's opinion. CP 477; CP 50 (Finding of Fact 5). He cannot show prejudice given that the Board and the trial court deferred to his witness's opinion.

B. Haggenmiller Fails To Establish He Has A Claim Based On An Action Involving Public Participation And Petition Because The Department's Filings He Objects To Were Responses To His Multiple Untimely Post-Judgment Filings In His Industrial Insurance Appeal

No basis exists for a claim under the anti-SLAPP statute, even assuming it could be asserted in a workers' compensation appeal. Haggenmiller asserts that "[t]he Department's pleading requesting relief against Haggenmiller amounts" to a SLAPP lawsuit. App. Br. 29. It is unclear to what pleading he refers, but he suggests that "Department's Motions to Strike, relief, court call cost, are each one a "claim" under WAC 4.24.525(1)(a)". App. Br. 36. In any case, to succeed on a special motion to strike under Washington's anti-SLAPP statute, Haggenmiller must make an initial prima facie showing that his "suit arises from an act in furtherance of his right to petition or free speech in connection with a matter of public concern." *Alaska Structures, Inc. v. Hedlund*, ___ Wn. App. ___, 323 P.3d 1082, 1083 (2014).

In deciding an anti-SLAPP motion, this Court follows a two-step process under a de novo review. *Id.* The first prong of the analysis requires the court to review the parties' pleadings, declarations, and other supporting documents to determine whether the gravamen of the underlying claim is based on a protected activity—that the claim *targets* protected activity, i.e., activity “involving participation and petition”. *Hedlund*, 323 P.3d 1082, 1085; *see also Spratt v. Toft*, ___ Wn. App. ___, 324 P.3d 707, 711 (2014). Only after this first prong is met does the burden shift to responding party “to establish by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim.” RCW 4.24.525(4)(b).

The gravamen of the Department's motion to strike and responses to Haggemiller's various motions is not about whether there is a violation of Haggemiller's free speech right, but whether Haggemiller followed the correct procedures in his industrial insurance appeal after summary judgment was entered in the Department's favor. He did not.

After summary judgment was granted in favor of the Department, Haggemiller filed a timely appeal to this Court. CP 576-79; CP 599. Over the course of the next four months, Haggemiller filed multiple motions in the trial court, which the Department opposed.

RAP 7.2 provides that the trial court only has authority to act in an appealed case as provided in the rule. RAP 7.2(e) allows only post-

judgment motions as allowed by the civil rules in this context. Here, Haggenmiller did not file any motion that complied with the civil rules. He filed six motions. First, Haggenmiller sought vacation of the order ex parte and the court denied it. CP 520-43, 565-66. The Department did not participate in this motion. Second, Haggenmiller sought late CR 59 relief, which the Department properly objected to. CP 567-68, 572-74. There is no authority under RAP 7.2(e) and CR 59 to file a late motion for reconsideration. The third, fourth, fifth, and sixth motions were all for default. CP 606, 651, 666, 675, 721-23. There is no authority under RAP 7.2(e) and CR 55 to seek an order of default after judgment has been entered. The Department responded appropriately to these motions.

Finally, below Haggenmiller argued that it was the Department's challenges to his untimely post-judgment motions that constituted SLAPPs, but now in addition he also suggests that the Department has in some way attempted to prevent him from appealing his case to this Court. App. Br. 35. The Department has filed no pleadings or other documents in opposition to Haggenmiller's right to appeal. *See* RCW 4.25.525(1)(a) (Claim includes any lawsuit, cause of action, claim, cross-claim, counterclaim, or other judicial pleading of filing requesting relief).

The Department filed its responses not to oppose Haggenmiller's right to challenge the trial court's decision, but to prevent him from